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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may

be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “year”).

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services in the market. ITE
has been pioneering and has achieved outstanding performance in the
areas of smartcard, radio frequency identification (“RFID") solutions and
integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong
Kong” or “"HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region (“Macao”)
and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") since our establishment.
With profound expertise, strong research and development (“R&D")
capability, proven track record and excellent reputation, the group has
established a leading profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive
approach to develop and introduce innovative products and customized
multi-applications solutions to our clients. Heading for the future, ITE
endeavours to develop and deploy smart city solutions and applications
building on innovation, technology and excellence so as to meet the needs
of smart cities and contribute to public health and well-being as well as
sustainability.

Appreciation
| would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 June 2024
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 60, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
37 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 61, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 40 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 55, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of Science
degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an associate
member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

S NEREEEBER

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 58, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant
qualified in Mainland and Hong Kong China and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam has over 35
years' experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private
and public companies.

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung, aged 64, holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Arts
(Honours) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Social Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. He has been
working in the information technology sector with over twenty years’
experience in the telecom and communications industry. He is the
chairman of the Asia Data Center Alliance and at the same time serving
the Hong Kong community as a District Councillor for more than two
decades.

Mr. Yeung Kin Hing, aged 64, holds a Honours Diploma in
communications from The Hong Kong Baptist College (now University)
and a Master of Arts in International Relations from the Australian National
University. He formerly worked with the South China Morning Post from
1984 to 2009, the Hong Kong Economic Journal from 2009 to 2014 and
the CitizenNews from 2016 to 2022. He is currently a part-time lecturer at
the Hong Kong Shue Yan University.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

Throughout the year, our group remained dedicated to delivering our
products and professional services to our customer base.

The Hong Kong economy saw signs of recovery post-pandemic in 2023.
However, external challenges such as heightened geopolitical tensions
and tightened financial conditions have constrained both the pace of
Hong Kong’s economic rebound and our group’s business growth. Thus,
the group maintains a prudent stance on future prospects. Internally, the
group is steadfast in implementing rigorous financial strategies to mitigate
costs and risks. The group has also proactively improved its positioning to
navigate market complexities and ensure sustainable growth in the long
term.

Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which best explain ITE.

All members performed professionally under the corporate vision,
mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual assets are created,
accumulated and protected, and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
world. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to provide
innovative solutions to our clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R wm S AT

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses associated
with its business operations. The group maintains insurance policies against
loss or damage to its office and business interruption, public liability and
employees’ compensation. The insurance coverage may be insufficient to
cover all the risks associated with the group’s business and operations in
the future. In the case of an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured
limit, including those caused by natural disasters and other events beyond
the group’s control, the group may be required to pay for losses, damages
and liabilities out of its own funds, which could materially and adversely
affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if the
insurance coverage is adequate to cover its direct losses, the group may
need to be responsible for the indirect losses. Furthermore, claim records
of the group may affect the premiums which insurance companies charge
in the future.

Despite of the above, the group considers that the current insurance
coverage is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the group will
review its insurance policies from time to time.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$13 million, representing a decrease of 20% over last
year. Profits for the year attributable to owners of the company for the
year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$2 million as compared
to that of approximately HK$5 million for last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded a decrease in revenue for about
20% when compared with last year and the group’s gross profit margin
improved from 60% to 64%.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services and
related sales, was HK$3,612,016 (2023: HK$4,999,034) which decreased
by 28%. On the other hand, the income from maintenance services also
decreased by 17% to HK$9,114,762 (2023: HK$10,939,711).

The group’s administrative expenses decreased by 8% to HK$7,618,180
(2023: HK$8,311,038). Included in administrative expenses, the research
and development cost and associated sponsorship was increased by 30%
to HK$1,215,032 (2023: HK$938,029). Expenditure on research and
development activities was totally expensed in profit or loss during the
year. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to
the decrease in depreciation expense and supporting staff cost.

During the year, the group’s finance cost was HK$55,103 (2023:
HK$33,002) which related to finance charges on lease liabilities.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2024, the current ratio of the group was 5.83
(2023: 5.12) while the liquidity ratio was 5.83 (2023: 5.11). The overall
financial and liquidity positions of the group remained at a stable and
healthy level.

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also
reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R wm S AT

Capital Structure

The capital of the company only comprises ordinary shares and there is no
change in the capital structure of the group during the year.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was nil (2023: nil).

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference to
individual performance and the group’s business performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong
including contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Besides,
the group also provides on-going training programmes for its employees
to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

At 31 March 2024, the group had 24 (2023: 27) full-time employees and
all are based in Hong Kong. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration,
was approximately HK$8 million (2023: HK$9 million) for the year ended
31 March 2024.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2024, the group did not have any charges on group assets
(2023: nil).

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2024.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), British Pound (“GBP")
and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$, GBP and
RMB have been steady for the past few years. During the year, the group
generally used the receipts from customers to pay its suppliers and meet
its capital requirements. They are denominated in the local currency of
the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The group does not currently
engage in hedging to manage possible exchange rate risk as the group
considers the cost associated with such hedging arrangements would
exceed the benefits. However, management will continue to monitor the
possible exposure to exchange rate risk and will take such measures as it
deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2024, the company did not have any contingent liability.

BIEE R ST

AEE—RHEFRIFBANBERE  EREEEATE
EBEENEABEND - B LAnFHMTBEIN - KEE
TMEREABBAD AR RERMERETN - BEFE
s MEATRR A B - tbHh - ARE TR BEBRMISE
EHIETE) - BB PIRRATR S SR B AR BT R

AEER -ZE-_NE=A=+—HEBUZ( T -=
F7R)EHEE  2HAEBREE - HE_T T

A=+ BULFE  BREFMNEERNNEEKREAN S
8,000,000/ 7L( == = =4F : 9,000,000/ 7T ) °
BEEFR

REBR -_ZE-_WNF=A=+—RHUEEREERTD(=
E=F:F)o
HENEARKRES

AEBR T -WF= A=+ —HWEEAEERIEE XU
BEABREEMNE -

BE == 5% B a1 B 32 A A A8 B 3 b 4 i

AEENEE B KakMXET28T  FT - *
FERMAREREN - BT X RERARBNHERE
BEBFRATRE - FR - AREB—RAREF A
AU HEERREARY - ZFRIIUNBARKLE
PR BT - ANARERRE P LR ARR
Mgt - B AEE B A S ERE e B RO E K
Rl - A ERESRDFERE  THERAHEER
I B A7 E R REEEERE

HAREE

REZB-WF=A=+—H  ARRTEEARAREIE -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F 3R

9



Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility
and fairness. The board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices
exist to protect the interests of the shareholders of the company (the
“shareholders”).

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, save for the
deviations discussed below.

The board is responsible for performing the functions and duties set out
in code provision A.2.1 of the Code. The terms of reference of the board
include developing and reviewing the company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management; reviewing and monitoring the
company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and
reviewing the company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

Under the code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set

out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report

Under the code provision B.2.2 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision B.2.2 of the
Code.

The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate governance through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard
of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of conduct and
the required standard of dealings and there was no non-compliance with
the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March
2024.
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Board of Directors
Board Composition

The board, which currently comprises three executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the company’s business,
and should ensure that the directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the company that are commensurate with their role and
board responsibilities. It should ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. It should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement. Non-executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and
number for their views to carry weight.

Mechanisms, including regular meetings and various communication and
engagement channels, have been established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the board. The board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should make a positive contribution to the development of the company’s
strategy and policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments. The functions of non-executive directors should include
participating in board meetings to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct; taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interests arise; serving on the audit, remuneration,
nomination and other governance committees, if invited; and scrutinising
the group’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.
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The independent non-executive director, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
has been serving the board as independent non-executive director for
more than nine years and has consistently demonstrated his willingness
to exercise independent judgments and provide objective challenges to
management. His further appointments has been subject to a separate
resolution, in which his background, experience, qualification, general
market conditions and the company’s articles of association have been
reviewed. The nomination committee considered that he has actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held during
the year and has shown himself able to give constructive and independent
advice to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the nomination
committee considered that he remains independent and should be
re-elected, notwithstanding the length of his tenure as independent non-
executive director.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve
a sustainable and balanced development of the group. In designing the
board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from various
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All appointments to the board will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. This diversity
policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the company,
and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the
board.

With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.
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The company believes the balance of gender in the board would bring
more inspiration to the board and enhance the business development of
the group, thus gender diversity is the essential factor for the company to
select suitable candidate as a director. The board will take opportunity to
increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates for board appointments.
The board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices.

As at the date of this report, the board comprises six directors, all are male.
The company values gender diversity, and the board targets to appoint at
least one director of a different gender no later than 31 December 2024.

To achieve diversity at workforce level, the group has put in place
appropriate recruitment and selection practices such that a diverse
range of candidates are considered. During the year under review, the
board was not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which
make achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
Subsequently, he/she shall receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operation of the group and that he/she is aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under statute and common law, the GEM
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the issuer’s
business and governance policies.

All directors shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The company
shall arrange and fund suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors
will be arranged wherever necessary.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company'’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been
established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Apart from regular board meetings, the chairman also held meetings/
discussed with independent non-executive directors without the presence
of other directors during the year.

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, conduct evaluation of
its performance, and discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to management. The
arrangements should be reviewed annually to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the company’s needs.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advance to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for each
board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the directors
together with necessary board papers and related materials at least 3
days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any items on the
agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant
information of each board and committee meeting are generally made
available to directors or committee members at least 3 days in advance.
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The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Minutes of board meetings and the board
committees meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and
records as soon as after the board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any director.

Management is responsible for supplying the board and its committees
with adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make
informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete
and reliable. To fulfil their duties properly, directors may not, in all
circumstances, be able to rely purely on information provided voluntarily
by management and they may need to make further enquiries. Where any
director requires more information than is volunteered by management,
that director should make further enquiries where necessary. The board
and individual directors have separate and independent access to the
company’s senior management.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information from the company’s senior management or
obtain independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the company’s expense. The board should resolve to provide separate
independent professional advice to directors to assist them perform their
duties to the company. They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and service of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing
directors with board papers and related materials and ensuring that board
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE ERETRE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board meeting Committee Committee Committee

Name of directors EEHE EZgEe3 ERZEEE FMzEES REZEE
Executive directors HITES

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BIE h A 4/4 N/AZN3E 1/1 11
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung SR S A 4/4 N/AAT i N/AANiE N/AA i R
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah BBELE 3/4 N/ATT i N/ATNE A N/AZT~E F
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony eI 4/4 717 11 11
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung HEFLEE 3/4 6/7 11 01
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing T ER S 4/4 717 1/1 11

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and functions of the chairman include providing leadership
for the board; ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at board meetings; ensuring that directors receive, in a timely
manner, adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable; ensuring that the board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by
it in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting; ensuring that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make a full and
active contribution to the board'’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure
that it acts in the best interests of the company; encouraging directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allowing sufficient time for
discussion of issues and ensure that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus; at least annually holding meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors; ensuring that
appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the board as a
whole; promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between executive and non-executive directors. The
chief executive should be responsible for the day-to-day management of
business.
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The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed
by Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration the nature and extent
of the group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 and code provision D.3.3
and D.3.7 of the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony (being
the chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr.
Yeung Kin Hing.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports (if
any) and to provide advice and comments thereon to the board. The
audit committee meets at least four times a year with management to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and
to discuss the effectiveness of the company’s financial reporting matters,
internal control and also risk management systems. The principal terms of
reference include, inter alia, its relationship with the company’s external
auditor, review of the company’s financial information and oversight
of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, seven audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.

18 ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F %R

BFRRRE  ERERITHAHNBERSH - TEAR—
ANTHRE - ARRLED FIEERITHAHNBE - RF
W ITREENBERRNRRIRELFERE L ELRET -

BEXRERMERIN  EFEEHRE AR ATEEERE

RITHARE A INE R —RE - IR A EIREITEY

TR N B
EXeREHERREERBNENLRE  XYEREF

EREENEENLENE MBERIVEE NEE

ERERS

R IR GEM 0 #7 A 85 5.28 16 £ 5.33 1% 2 <7 Al % 3¢ D.3.3
HD37MRE ARFEICEABERERY TEZEE
g BREZEEH-"RBUIINITEE  WEEHLLE
(BRERZBEER)  REFRERISGEELEARK -

.—L.Ai

EZEEeTEER NRIMFREIRE - PHIXEE
RERFEEERE(WE) UEBRLERESSRHS
N -  ERZEGEFELBTORGE  BEBE—
BEAAEEARANSERINER  UENER ¥
ﬁ‘%%ﬁ&%ﬂ NEE N ERERRGNERML - EE
SENTIETRIREHE - BEARREINERBETN
& BEBAFARBYBERIN - WK A FERBY R
E R A EBEEIEIRT o

REBE-T_MNF=A=+—-RLFE BXZEgHE
TERkEH BERZBECENAKEEE_T_MF=

A=+ HBIENFEMBIHRE - ERERE
BEREANGETER - GEM MR K&
EH B 5355 -

ik S TG
ERRE - WE



Corporate Governance Report

AN
EERRE

Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Code. The roles and functions of the
remuneration committee include making recommendations to the board
on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management of the company, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-executive
directors, as well as determining the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors, assessing performance of executive directors, and
approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts. Members of
the remuneration committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr.
Wai Hing Cheung, Mr. Yeung Kin Hing and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony as chairman. A majority of the votes in
the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in connection with
his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules to meet at least once a year.
During the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review
the remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of the
nomination committee include the appointment and removal of directors,
reviews of the background, experience, qualification, general market
conditions and the company’s articles of association in selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship. Members of the nomination
committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung,
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Mr. Kam Hau
Choi, Anthony as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

FMWEES

ARRERETRIEE S EHLBEESE MK LENE S
g FNERENRBAEMBEEREAARRZBITES
EkefEREETRARHHGE BREDNE  BRKE
REES - BRTARESHBA LERREmEN
MAES SR UEBFRTESNFMAESSELE
& WRHEATESORB RERTEEREE N
Ko FHEZRENERBIEREN L BEFLELE
HIEESE A AR BRI TLE - BIUFERITEENHNES
G LATTERSBNEERE - BTS2 B ERABES
EiEEEE

S

FMNZBEeEHNEFRIBITREE - FA - HMWNEE
SERBITREH  UENITESNFHM R IBLIE

HITEENESHED -

REZES

ARRERETHEES ELBEREMMKLIREEERE
g REAZEENBENBESRZENBRES - TN
BHEEENRE  ABRAEAR(BREESREREEA
VER - KBREER)  UBEMBELNESRNESS
RIEES - REZEGNEBEIFERZNEL  BER
i BRESEEARBIENR KA -

RELZEGANARABITERBEAGHXRLERS
ETRERNEMEREHE -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 3% 19



Corporate Governance Report

/\_\LI/_A-A— \A

TEERWMS

During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the board were
discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
company. Further, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah will retire
from the board in accordance with Article 108 of the company’s articles
of association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the external auditor of the company, CWK CPA Limited,
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 62 of
this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the board at its absolute discretion
after taking into account the company’s financial results, future prospects
and other factors, and subject to:

- the articles of association of the company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the company is
bound from time to time;
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- the investment and operating requirements of the company; and
- any other factors that have material impacts on the company.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review
of the group’s risk management and internal control system on an
ongoing basis. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the group
emphasizes the importance of a sound internal control system which is
also indispensable for mitigating the group’s risk exposures. A sound
and effective internal control system is designed for (i) safeguarding the
interests of shareholders; (ii) safeguarding assets of the group against
misappropriation; (i) ensuring proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information; and (iv) ensuring
compliance with the relevant laws, regulations, and internal policies.
Such system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment of the
business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the effectiveness of its risk management and the internal control
systems under code provision D.2.1, report to shareholders that it has
done so in the Corporate Governance Report, and make recommendations
to the board if any significant areas of concern are identified. The review
should cover all material controls, including financial, operational and

compliance controls.

The board reviews the following annually: (a) the changes, since the last
annual review, in the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment; (b) the scope and quality of management'’s
ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal
control systems; (c) the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s)) which enables it
to assess control of the group and the effectiveness of risk management; (d)
significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified during
the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the
future have, a material impact on the company’s financial performance
or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of the company’s processes for
financial reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.
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During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
and has considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes, and budget of the group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, as well as those relating to the group’s
ESG performance and reporting. The board is satisfied that the present
system of internal control is effective. The group does not have an internal
audit function and does not see the need to have one. The group will
review the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programmes and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk
management and internal control systems were in place and effective.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

The group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the group, including customers and
suppliers, to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the audit
committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the group.
The group has also established a policy that promotes and supports anti-
corruption laws and regulations.

Business Ethics and Professional Code of
Conducts

The group puts high standards on business ethics and professional
conducts expected of all employees. Employees are briefed regularly on
the code of ethics and on the conduct of keeping confidentiality of the
information of business partners and the group. Briefings on the code of
ethics and on the conducts are held for new employees during orientation
sessions.

The group also adopts goods employment standards of non-discrimination
policy and fair compensation scheme.
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Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company'’s affairs. The selection, appointment or dismissal of the company
secretary should be approved by the board. The company secretary reports
to the chairman and directors of the company. The company secretary
also plays an essential role in the relationship between the company and
its shareholders, and assists the board in discharging its obligations to
shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
her skills and knowledge during the year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit services could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee to
believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors affect
their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards.

On 30 April 2024, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the predecessor external
auditor, resigned and the company engaged CWK CPA Limited as the
external auditor to fill the casual vacancy. The fee in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by CWK CPA Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to HK$250,000 and HK$20,000 respectively.

The audit committee has expressed its view to the board that the level
of fees paid/payable by the company to the company’s external auditor
for annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the company during the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article 64 of the
articles of association of the company, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
board or the secretary of the company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
articles of association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The chairman of the board attends
the annual general meeting. The directors host the annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The external auditors attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
The chairman of the meeting shall ensure that an explanation is
provided of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer
any questions from shareholders on voting by poll. The company uses
various communication channels, such as publication of annual and
quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars, to update the
shareholders on the group’s business developments and financial
performance. Such information is also available on the company’s website:
http://Awww.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there was no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Management Approach and Governance
Structure

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to
the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Guide"). It discloses major policies and management measures for the
environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision of
innovation technology products, solutions and professional services of the
group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and communities. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our open and transparent platform while
we are devoted to continuous improvement of our communication and
engagement channels. We are committed to maintaining a long-term
partnership with our stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing
their concerns with follow-up actions.

Having faith in sustainable business development, the board together
with management of the group evaluate and identify ESG-related risks,
formulate overall ESG and sustainability strategies, set ESG-related goals
and targets for the group, and integrate the strategic planning into
daily business operations. The board regularly reviews the progress and
enhances the ESG and sustainability strategies.

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of this ESG report, we follow the Reporting Principles,
namely materiality, quantitative and consistency as set forth in the Guide.
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Materiality

We recognise that the success of our environmental policies and
performance hinges on the support from our stakeholders. Therefore,
we always value our stakeholders’ insights into the group’s ESG and
sustainability strategies, as well as their opinions and feedback on
our existing ESG operating practices. Through continuous industry
benchmarking, communications with our stakeholders and internal
discussions, we identify material ESG factors.

We have established the following communication channels to facilitate
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stakeholder engagement. Through stakeholder engagement, we manage £ - BLAB RO HETHEIRR - e REABER
to evaluate and identify ESG-related risks effectively and make continuous & - T%%ﬁﬂ&%ﬁﬁ‘]ﬁ’\]fﬁfﬁ e REREISEERRE
improvements to our ESG and sustainability strategies. Bg o
Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BiE SHEEE HEMR
Shareholders — Annual general meetings —  Comply with relevant laws ~ J&& - BRERAFAeRE — ETHEEEMIK
and other shareholder and regulations iR &% Il
meetings - Strengthen governance - MEER
- Annual reports, interim ~ ~  Identify risk factors - Ef PHRER - #RREZE
reports and quarterly - Make necessary FEHE(E) — FLBENES
reports (if any) information disclosure and BEMESERE
- Announcements and maintain transparency - AfkEE
circulars
- Website - #E
Employees ~ Regular operational ~  Identify risk factors (== - BREEREE - #HEBEZ
and management - Maintain a safe and BB - BRT2EEN
communications healthy workplace THERE
- Training and briefing ~ ~  Promote career - BImEEe - BEREER
sessions development
- Circulars and emails —  Inherit and pass on our - BUKEH - AEROEEK
core values and spirit &
Customers —  Business meetingsand - Effective delivery of BP - HBgER - BRREHATR
seminars solutions and professional g NEXRH%
~  Letters, facsimiles, emails services - &R 7
and phone conversations —  Maintain information ﬂ*ﬁ&aaﬁﬁaﬂ - BRENERE
- Website transparency - #EB
— Customer service hotline —  Respect and protect - EPR#BRE - BENREEPH
customers’ rights and g
interests
- Build mutual trust and - BUYBELRHE
establish a long-term EAES

professional relationship
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Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BRE SHRE HEHR
Suppliers ~  Business meetingsand  —  Identify risk factors fHRERs - BB%EgER - #BARARAR
seminars - Maintain information Hirg - EREHEAE
- Tendering and requests transparency - BREREIERE
for quotation — Build mutual trust and - BVHEEREH
- Letters, facsimiles, emails establish a long-term - EE -g&- EE 1
and phone conversations professional relationship BEREFEBA
Communities - Website —  Fulfil corporate social HE - ME - BEiItEdeEf
— Community activities responsibility - #HEEE
~ Talks and seminars - Promote environmental - BELMEE - EERRRE
protection
Quantitative 21t

Information about material ESG factors and key performance indicators
(“KPI") are made available in quantitative form in this report, whenever
feasible, pursuant to the Guide.

In the presentation of the types of emissions and respective emissions
data, we have been following the vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK,
developed by the Environmental Protection Department (“EPD"”). The
modelling methodology follows that of the California Air Resources
Board’s EMFAC2002 model but with modifications to cater for local
factors.

The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions due to electricity consumption
were calculated based on CLP Power Hong Kong Limited’s GHG intensity
of the electricity in 2023.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are adopted to allow meaningful comparisons
of ESG data over time.

We have been calculating air pollutant emissions from vehicles based on

the EPD’s vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK. We adopted the latest
version of EMFAC-HK in this report.
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The GHG intensity of the electricity sold by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
in Hong Kong was 0.39kgCO,e/kWh in 2023, the same as that in 2022.
In this report, we calculated greenhouse gas emissions due to electricity
consumption based on 0.39kgCO,e/kWh (2022: 0.39kgCO,e/kWh).

Reporting Boundary

We covered our environmental and social performance in this ESG report

in accordance with the latest version of the Guide. There is no change in

the scope of reporting.

A

Environmental Policy and Resources
Management Measures

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental protection standards to fulfil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during
the operation of the business. Being a provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services, we bear
low impact on carbon emission and the environment. Nevertheless,
the group continues to actively manage our environmental
footprint via implementing environmental protection measures in

the office and workplace.

We were one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies came from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financial, consumer
goods, industrial, utilities, information technology, materials and
telecommunication sectors. We are ready to disclose the carbon
footprint information and share the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through various means. We
have been pioneering the initiative and playing an important role
in transforming Hong Kong into a green and low-carbon economy
since 2014.
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Aspect A1: Emissions

The impacts of climate change touch on every part of our lives and
our business. We and our stakeholders recognise the need to step
up our environmental protection actions and draw up relevant
policies to reduce the emissions and discharges of air pollutants,
greenhouse gases and wastes. We have established various policies
to closely monitor, regularly review and implement measures to
reduce the air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and hazardous and non-hazardous waste arising
from our daily business operations.

We have been complying with all relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impacts on us relating to emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes.

The group’s major sources of air pollutants, greenhouse gases
and wastes include fuel and electricity consumption of our vehicle
fleet, office and staff. Emissions disclosed as KPIs are calculated
based on the consumption data collected and applicable emission
factors.

Air pollutants include NO,, SO, particulate matter and other
pollutants regulated under laws and regulations of HKSAR.
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
ozone, hydrofluorocarbons, chlorofluorocarbons etc.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no confirmed non-
compliance in relation to air pollutants and greenhouse gases,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes.
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KPI A1.1 Emissions from vehicles

We were awarded the Contract for Management, Operation and
Maintenance of the existing Parking Meter System (“CMOM") by
the Government of the HKSAR. The CMOM started on 20 January
2019 and ended on 19 January 2022. A vehicle fleet consisting of
three diesel trucks, two diesel vans, four electric vans, one electric
car, one electric motorcycle and four gasoline motorcycles were
established to fulfil the requirements and needs under the CMOM.

Since the completion of CMOM, we have been streamlining the
fleet. During the year, no vehicle powered by diesel or gasoline
remained in our fleet, and thus there was no diesel or gasoline
consumption. The remaining two electric vehicles, one Nissan
eNV200 electric van and one Mercedes-Benz Smart forfour Electric
Drive, were phased out in the year. As of 31 March 2024, the
original fleet has been completely disbanded.

Types of emissions 2024 2023

Kg Kg
NO, 0 0
SO, 0 0
Particulate Matter (“PM") 0 0
Hydrocarbons (“HC") 0 0
Carbon Monoxide (“CQO") 0 0

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions

2024 2023
Tonnes of CO,e Tonnes of CO,e

Direct GHG emissions
Vehicle fleet — gasoline, diesel
Aviation travel — aviation fuel

Indirect GHG emissions

Electric vehicles — electricity 0.32 0.67
Office - electricity 18.47 22.51
Total GHG emissions 18.78 23.17

GHG emission intensity
(per employee) 0.72 0.86
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KPI A1.3 Hazardous wastes

Hazardous wastes are those defined by regulations of HKSAR.
Hazardous wastes are required to be separated and recorded
for collection. During the year, the group did not produce any
hazardous wastes in the course of business.

KPI A1.4 Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the group did not produce nor dispose of any
non-hazardous wastes (2023: 0 tonne, 2022: 8.30 tonnes).

KPI A1.5 Measures to mitigate emissions

In accordance with policies stated above for the reduction of air
pollutants and GHG emissions from vehicles, the group adopts
the following measures: minimise the numbers of vehicles owned
by the group; minimise the frequency of employees to take
transportation for local business commuting; and minimise the
volume of business travel by employees. We consider that such
measures had been achieved during the year.

KPI A1.6 How hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,

reduction initiatives and results achieved

The group is committed as ever to conserving precious resources
by taking eco-friendly measures to reduce disposal of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that wasted electrical and electronic
equipment are the fastest growing waste materials in the world.
To alleviate the problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software. At the same
time, we promote the concept of replacing the particular depleted
computer components instead of the whole computer. Reducing
the replenishment rate of the computer components is not our
only objective, we also send depleted computer components to
the licensed recycling collectors to lessen the environmental impact
associated with electronic manufacturing from raw materials, as
well as to reduce hazardous and toxic substances handled during
disposal.
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Any hazardous wastes must be disposed through the approved
waste collectors. The non-hazardous wastes, such as packaging
material, are systematically collected and transported to designated
government-funded disposal facilities. For surplus resources, e.g.
end-of-life disposal products, we make every effort to ensure
responsible handling and disposal. Donation of surplus resources
to charitable organisations is supported. We routinely isolate
any recyclable components, e.g. paper, metal and electronic
components, prior to disposal. We consider that such measures
had been achieved during the year.

Other non-hazardous wastes produced by the group are mainly
generated from daily office operations, including daily paper
usage, office waste and food waste by employees. Those wastes
are collectively classified, collected and disposed of by the property
management office of the building on a regular basis.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Electricity consumption is a contribution to our GHG emissions and
energy footprints. The group adopts a number of energy-saving
initiatives as well as efficiency practices and policies to enhance
the awareness for GHG emission reduction and energy saving,
including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning system with
“Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging employees to turn off the computers and
information communication technology (“ICT") devices

when not in use;

- setting office machines such as copiers and display
monitors to turn-off mode automatically after office hour;

- maintaining indoor temperature at an optimal level for
comfort;

- putting up signage emphasizing the importance of energy
saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best use of the ICT
facilities so as to avoid unnecessary travel arrangements.
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The group continuously monitors and reviews the performance
and effectiveness of our appliances, replacing any out-date or
inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving technology.
We have encouraged paperless workflow such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced administrative
documentation. When using paper, employees are encouraged to
use double-sided paper, black and white or recycled papers when
printing or photocopying documents. It considerably improves
operational efficiency while creating a paperless operation system.

KPI A2.1 Energy consumption

Energy Usage and Emissions  Unit 2024 2023

Electricity consumption in kWh 812 1,71
electric vehicles

Electricity consumption in office  kWh 47,351 57,704

Electricity consumption in total ~ kWh 48,163 59,415

Energy consumption intensity ~ kWh per employee  1,852.41 2,207.4
(pro rata)

Gasoline and diesel Liter 0 0

consumption of vehicle fleet

Aviation travel Kilometer 0 0
Paper used Ream 16 26
Paper used intensity (pro rata) ~ Ream per employee 0.62 0.97

KPI A2.2 Water consumption

We are committed to using all kinds of resources including water
efficiently and conservatively. Our group’s water consumption
mainly stems from daily office activities. Since our office uses public
tap water shared by the building and the water supply is under the
management of the building’s management office, information
of water consumption of individual units of the building is not
available. Notwithstanding the situation, we always promote water
conservation and water efficiency in the workplace.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F 3R

REBEFEETMFAREOERE RN BB
T O B BE BT AR A AE (] 38 B B SR R F AT
BB EA( IR - MEFXHEFER - MR
FRRAOABEEXN - EERRRE - EE
Eﬁﬂmﬁ@miﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ%~%5&
FBER - ZERBARRESELRE - BT
a2 BmA L EERA -

BRI IRA2. 15857

HREERER B ZECME ZE-=E
EHENENHE FREE 812 1711
BREMENHEE FRE NG 47,351 57,704
BENKES TR 48,163 59,415
REERE (RELht) SEEN 185241 2,207.4
TR

BEBHMTHN N 0 0
P

MER®E RE 0 0
HEFEA 2 16 26
RREREE (RLPt) SEENS 0.62 0.97

SR IEIFA2.2KFE 5

BMEOR m AR FEE A %mﬁﬁﬁmm
FTBER - AEENKEEETEFRNHAE
BB c BRARMMPAZFEAEFH mmaﬁa
oK MAHBRKEEHBAEERHARTE
B BECKE BB B AR E E R AIT o
BEWLL - RS EHERETIESOESH KA
FAK ©



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R e MEAWRE

KPI A2.3 Energy use efficiency targets

The group has adopted the foregoing measures to enhance energy
use efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI A2.4 Issues in sourcing water and water efficiency targets

During the year, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose. The group has adopted the foregoing measures to water
efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI A2.5 Packaqging material used for finished products

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale and do not consume packaging materials during
our operations. The total packaging material used for finished
products is not applicable.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
In order to minimise impacts on the environment and natural
resources, we are committed to applying and integrating green

energy into our solutions and professional services.

KPI A3.1 Minimising impacts on the environment and natural

resources

We continue to develop and deploy sustainable energy solutions
and services for our customers, such as using rechargeable lithium
battery packs, in our solutions and services, so as to reduce
chemical waste. During the year, we applied and integrated green
technology into multiple existing access control system projects.

Regarding the operation of the office premises, we are not
aware of any significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources. With the implementation of green office
measures, we strive to minimise impacts on the environment
and natural resources. The group will continue to implement
environment-friendly practices within the operation in order to
enhance sustainability.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change BEAL : mIREE
We continue to review and enhance policies on identification B ERE RBGEECR - UHBIREHEL R
and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have AR g AREEELYENERRGERER -

impacted, and those which may impact, the group.

KPI A4.1 Significant climate-related issues R IEIZAA I EARIRIAIFE

The increasingly extreme weather and environmental conditions HaEBim AR RBRBELERNEFPINIIENEEE
have been creating a challenging environment for our employees BomtkE - tERERARBEEENEE - B
who work outdoors. As a responsible and caring employer, we —HIEEEMEENZE2HREM - RMEBEL
always put the health and safety of our employees as our top BRELSTE  REREBLRFEHEFR LT
priority. We observe and respond to the appeal by the Labour B EERBEMTZEHEUBEENER - 821
Department, the Environmental Protection Department, and the BBRR

Centre for Health Protection that we take appropriate precautions
to the health and safety of our staff. Precautions and measures
taken include but not limited to:

- Taking heed of the weather report and adopt shift work - BERRSRE  THEESWEIE - DUR
arrangements for employees to reduce their exposure to DEEERISRY - TR RER RS EAM
the air pollutants, hot environment and other adverse BERRENLIE
weather;

- Arrange appropriate rest breaks for employees during very — EMBREN  AEETHBEEMNKER
hot periods; M

- Reducing outdoor physical exertion and the time of the — ErREXRRESENER R EE]
employees’ stay outdoors when the AQHI is at the “Very KFEE - RPN EREIIERIEER
High" or “Serious” level. PN o
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Social Responsibility
Aspect B1: Employment

In relation to human resources, we are committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and
race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational
safety of our employees, so as to safeguard their interests and
well-being. We are very proud to receive the “Partner Employer
Award 5 years” by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award” Recognition
Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local enterprises to
hire and provide internships to local students and graduates so
that they can accumulate work experience and develop a positive
attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the market.

We are committed to safeguarding the security and privacy of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, we
comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and Guidelines
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data,
with a view to protecting the privacy of our employees, partners,
customers and community.

We comply with various anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong
Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and equality, all
staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present, the anti-
discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

o the Disability Discrimination Ordinance

° the Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o the Race Discrimination Ordinance

We supported by participating in the Selective Placement Division
of the Labour Department. The objective of the scheme is to assist
people with disabilities in securing jobs in open employment that
best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and experience, with
the ultimate aim of integrating them into the community and
helping them to be financially independent.
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We review the corporate policy of employment and labour
regularly to ensure that we comply with the local labour
legislations and regulations. During the year, we did not come to
any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment’ related laws and regulations.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group

and geographical region

2024 2023
Number of employees
Permanent 24 18
Part-time 1
Intern 2 5
Workforce by gender
Female 8 8
Male 19 19
Workforce by age
20-29 8 11
30-39 2 3
40-49 6 6
50-59 5 5
60-69 6 2
70+ 0 0
By region
Hong Kong 25 27
United Kingdom 1
Macao 1 0
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KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and B5R 48 SUFETEBT . 2FZ1E Rl « F B2 A48 Bl Jé it m 2 77
geographical region BIE S i

2024 2023 —EDNFE ZE-=F
Workforce by gender MHRIE DB 1
Female 0% 0% g 0% 0%
Male 0% 29.6% B4 0% 29.6%
Workforce by age REREDNEEH D
20-29 27.3% 26.7% 20-29 27.3% 26.7%
30-39 33.3% 50.0% 30-39 33.3% 50.0%
40-49 0% 0% 40-49 0% 0%
50-59 0% 28.6% 50-59 0% 28.6%
60-69 0% 0% 60-69 0% 0%
70+ 0% 0% 70+ 0% 0%
By region Ry EE D
Hong Kong 7.4% 22.9% B 7.4% 22.9%
United Kingdom 0% 0% HE 0% 0%
Macao 0% 0% JERFT 0% 0%
Aspect B2: Health and Safety /EEB2 : #FHLE
We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have significant BMETHASEEEARENGRARHTELZET
impacts on us relating to providing a safe working environment ERERREEERECBEEEENEBERR
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including RO BREGBER 2 KR -

the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

KPI B2.1 Work-related fatalities IS4 A HEIEB2 1 -2 A T 53

2024 2023 —EINFE —EB=F
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 FERTSHAE 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 FFEATLEHLE(%) 0
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury IR NIEIEB2 2R T 518K TIEA &

2024 2023 —ECNFE —TB-=F
Lost days due to work injury 0 0 ATEBEATIERS 0 0
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KPI B2.3 Occupational health and safety measures

We develop and adopt health and safety policies, including
prohibition of smoking in the workplace, abuse of alcohol and
drugs, identification and prevention of risks and hazards in the
working area, and follow-up actions for accidents or personal
injuries. Such policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for
our employees to comply with. We also update the health and
safety policies from time to time to ensure that the policies are
best fit to our business.

First-aid kits and fire-fighting devices and equipment are provided
and easily identified in the premises in case of injuries and
emergencies.

Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. We appoint a
registered fire service contractor to carry out the annual works or
the provision of or improvement on fire service installations and
equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for water and carbon
dioxide, fire extinguishing devices, fire sand and fire blanket,
emergency lighting and exit sign have been installed and tested by
the fire service contractor annually. We conduct fire drills and use
of equipment every year.

We take various measures to minimise the risks of spreading
infectious diseases in the workplace. We regularly clean and
disinfect frequently touched surfaces such as furniture and door
handles to maintain environmental hygiene. In the meanwhile, all
employees are advised to maintain personal hygiene.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our businesses
continues to increase, competition poses the risk of employee
turnover. We address this risk by providing our employees with
training opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty
while cultivating their professional development.
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Every new joiner will be provided with proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous training is
also committed by us in different ways including on-the-job
training, comprehensive training for specific skill development and
professional training for relevant employees. Each department
is also responsible for setting and developing their own training
programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development
of our staff. Job rotation opportunities are given to help advance
personal development and facilitate employee substitutions. Both
the management and employee work together to identify the
department and position suitable for a job rotation.

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category

2024 2023
By gender
Female 87.5% 37.5%
Male 63.2% 100%
By employee category
Management 50.0% 85.7%
General 86.7% 85.0%

KPI B3.2 The averaqge training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category

2024 2023
No. of hours No. of hours

By gender

Female 5.8 4.6
Male 7.6 10.6
By employee category

Management 3.3 7.7
General 10.0 93
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impacts on us relating to the prevention of use of child
and forced labour. We do not accept any forms of forced labour
service. We also prohibit employing child labour at any working
place under any circumstances. We inspect applicant’s documents
and qualifications strictly during the recruitment process to ensure
that all relevant laws in respect thereof are complied with.

KPI B4.1 Employment practices to avoid child and forced labour

We inspect applicant’s documents and qualifications strictly during
the recruitment process to ensure that all relevant laws in respect
thereof are complied with.

We review the corporate policies relating to the prevention of use
of child and forced labour regularly to ensure that we comply with

the local labour legislations and regulations.

KPI B4.2 Steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

We strictly comply with all relevant laws and regulations. If any
child or forced labour is discovered, such employment will be
terminated immediately. During the year, we did not come to any
material non-compliance case that constituted violation of relevant
laws and regulations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Paying attention to the environmental and social risks of the
supply chain, we constantly monitor and review our procurement
and outsourcing policies and practices and remain cautious in
our selection of suppliers. We expect that our suppliers remain
consistent with high standards of business ethics and the laws. We
have no tolerance towards any violation of business ethics and the

laws.
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KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region

2024 2023
Hong Kong 58 80
China 5 9
Taiwan
Other countries/regions 0 0

KPI B5.2 Practices relating to engaging suppliers

We engage suppliers through standard evaluations, based on
multiple factors, including commercial ethics, availability, quality
of materials, experience, track record, price competitiveness,
environmental policies and practices, and the like. During the year,
all suppliers went through the standard evaluations. We conduct
supplier evaluations on a regular basis and review the practices
when necessary.

KPI B5.3 Practices used to identify environmental and social risks

along the supply chain

Environmental and social risks along the supplier chain are
incorporated into our risk management framework. We constantly
monitor and review both environmental and social risks along the
supply chain.

KPI B5.4 Practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services

As a solution and professional service provider, we are committed
to applying and integrating environmentally preferable products
and services into our solutions and professional services. When
we select suppliers, we take into account their environmental
policies and practices so as to promote environmentally preferable
products and services. We review the standard supplier evaluations
when necessary.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
We implement and maintain a quality management system of high

standards. It is our core value that we never compromise on safety
or quality and dedicate ourselves to a zero harm-and-fault mindset.
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We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale. The percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons is not applicable.

KPI B6.2 Products and service related complaints

During the year, we did not receive any products and service
related complaints relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters. When we receive a complaint, we
record details of the complaint, conduct an internal investigation
into the matter, discuss options for fixing the problem, and
follow up to avoid the problem in the future. We encourage our
customers to provide feedback and complaints through established

communication channels.

KPI B6.3 Observing and protecting intellectual property rights

We acknowledge the importance of intellectual property rights
and protection, we set out our policies and principles towards the
creation, utilization and protection of software, patents, designs
and trademarks registration and the related renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a document
or notification is provided to partners and vendors before business
engagement. Internally, we enter into employment contracts with
our employees which contain provisions on intellectual property
rights and confidentiality. Employees sign written confirmation to (i)
confirm that all intellectual property rights created or made during
their employment shall be vested in the group; and (ii) agree not
to use or disclose confidential information without authorization
or approval.
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KPI B6.4 Quality assurance process and recall procedures

We adopted the practices of ISO 9001:2015 Quality Assurance
System which were first accredited in 2002. We maintain the
quality by complying with those standards and demonstrate that
we have the ability to consistently provide services that meet our
customers’ needs and fulfil applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

KPI B6.5 Consumer data protection and privacy policies

We are committed to meeting internationally-recognised
standards of personal data privacy protection, in compliance
with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
All staff members are required to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations in the collection, use, disclosure and retention of
customers’ data.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

We establish a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. Strong anti-
corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall
governance framework of the group. We are committed to
mobilising resources to safeguard the assets and ultimate interests
of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
procurement processes and contractual requirements. We maintain
a list of preferred suppliers so as to ensure reliable and effective
delivery of the products and services we require.
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KPI B7.1 Legal cases reqarding corrupt practices

2024 2023
Number of concluded legal 0 0
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the
group or its employees
Outcomes of the cases N/A N/A

KPI B7.2 Preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures

The group has an internal reporting mechanism for our personnel
to report possible breaches of integrity requirements. The group
handles these reports promptly and in strict confidence. The group
strictly forbids retaliation against any personnel who, in good
faith, reports possible breaches of integrity requirements or who
participates in the inquiry or investigation of the allegation. Such
policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for our employees
to comply with.

KPI B7.3 Anti-corruption training

All new employees and directors are briefed on the group’s anti-
corruption policies and principles during introduction training.
We also provide training to existing employees and directors to
ensure that they are aware of and comply with relevant laws and
regulations.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

We are dedicated to working with our communities to promote
social responsibility, strengthen the communities’ interests and
build healthier and more sustainable communities together.
Therefore, we value community engagement which allows us to
listen to members of our communities and understand their needs.
Our approach to community engagement is anchored to our ESG
and sustainability strategies.
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KPI B8.1 Health

We have been participating in the ORBIS Pin Campaign since
2006. Fifteen staff members took part in the latest Campaign and
wore the Pins on 12 October 2023 to embrace ORBIS’s mission
in support of World Health Organization’s World Sight Day.
Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate preventable
blindness in impoverished nations worldwide. Long-term eye care
programs that increase local surgical skills, facilities and eye health
awareness have helped restore sight to over 6.8 million needlessly
blind people to date.

We have always supported the local registered charity Suicide
Prevention Services (SPS) and participated in its annual charity walk
fundraising event for consecutive years. The event was suspended
for four years due to the epidemic and resumed in 2023. Ten
employees participated in the SPS Charity Walk & Carnival 2023
held on 4 November 2023. The Charity Walk is SPS’s annual
fundraising event aimed at promoting the message of cherishing
life and staying positive. Funds raised are used to support and
develop suicide prevention services to benefit more individuals in
need and jointly build a caring and harmonious society.

KPI B8.2 Education

During the year, we welcomed six interns joining the group.
They came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The City
University of Hong Kong, and Vocational Training Council with
different disciplines from computing, electronics, computer & data,
and mechanical engineering. We have been supporting internship
programs for undergraduates from tertiary institutions since
2006 assisting more than 200 students to gain solid experience
and knowledge in their fields through taking actual work
responsibilities.

We have been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations were also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. We are honored to be the Principal Members of the
City University of Hong Kong Foundation.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Principal activities
The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the

principal subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 9 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

EEgo AREBE_ZMF=A=t—RHIFELE
AR A MG

FEXEHR

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ ANA &) ) B £ 2255 AR EER -
HMB A RN E EXBFBRN GRS MG mERM 28 -

7 ERE

ARBREMBEAR(EHEIARE DRARBEENTE
EBREEMHAAAM NG S P HIRKRMTE12

£ E)

$HEEA SRR A ERESHEOE B
RS -

Al BEEN

IREFRITER

RAMBRERER - NEBE T EZP G R HEE TS
REBHBOT

Percentage of the group's total

HREBRBEEDL
Revenue Purchases
Wz B
The largest customer BAEP 58% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AARE 85T 87% -
The largest supplier SAHER - 30%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE BT - 69%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Dividend

On 14 June 2024, the Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HKO0.2 cents (2023: HKO.5 cents) per ordinary share of the
company in cash distributed from the share premium account of the
company for the year ended 31 March 2024 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 23 August
2024. As at 31 March 2024, the company’s share premium account
was approximately HK$5,432,000. Subsequent to the approval of the
company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and after the payment of the proposed final dividend, assuming there
are no other changes to the share premium account, the company’s
share premium account is expected to be reduced to approximately
HK$3,581,000. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the
year. The recommendation of final dividend has not been incorporated in
the financial statements for the year but will be recorded in the following
year.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the company subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The articles of association provide
that an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the company is
required for any distribution out of the share premium account.

Subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting on Monday, 5 August 2024 the final dividend will be paid on
Friday, 6 September 2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the company on Friday, 23 August 2024.
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Closure of register of members

(i) Entitlement to Attend and Vote at the 2024 Annual
General Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 31 July
2024 to Monday, 5 August 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attendance of annual general meeting, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 30 July 2024.

(ii) Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 21
August 2024 to Friday, 23 August 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 August 2024.

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company
Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the company’s articles of
association, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah will retire from
the board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to date of
this report is as follows:

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

Directors’ Report

e

-

==

RAFBFEARBERRETIERHILHNES

RRF]
HITEE

Bzt
BRIt
BBERE

BUHHTEE

BEMELE
WERFRLE
B E st

RBEANFIEBEIRZMANE 10811215 - BEIZESLTER
BEAESNEERRBEAG LRESE  HERER
EREE -

RAMBEEREENRETEAHLINENBARES
EENOT

£ Py itad
R e

EERBEN

Bzt BEERERIBELAER _T-NOF=A
=H ERBEARFRLREESLY  #-FT—OFMA
—REFAH—F YRNER—EFE  BEEEMIOA
A5—HEN=EANS RN T ARIERILE -

B EXPrat &SN - BN EERRAF RS EENERE
FIAL AN B AT 2 B R AT —F AR E (— K
ETERRERRSN) T LA L R E R RIS E AT

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 3% 51



Directors’ Report

EREWE

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO™)), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company
and the Exchange were as follows:

EERTHRASREKS - AERORE
SERNERENR AR

R-ZZEZWNF=ZA=+—8  AAREEFRITRAH
BIEES R EENE15.7RE15.8EMBRE - ARRK
HAEMMBEZE(EER(ESFRAE G FEEH )
E+RE)  MWENEARBREBHERXHERAR
(TEE 32 AT DR - BRI RESFTEB O ESAE
(BIERIRE BEDI B2 SR E W R AR ER A MR
KA ) - MBI ARIBEREAEI2GTAFEER
Bt A - SRR 2 FT(GEMEE S TR AN ([ GEM £
MHRAI ) %5.46 5. 685 PTE YR Al LB A& RN 7] J B
TR SR B #IIIAT

Interests in issued shares of the company AR R RS
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
BR.01EBTEBRRE
Percentage
Personal Corporate of total
Name of director interests interests Total issued shares
EElA BAER ATERE &5 HERITROBESL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 7,108,000(L) 241,102,348(L) 248,210,348(L) 26.82%
ZES e (Note 2)
(PM&E2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,988,000(L) - 113,988,000(L) 12.32%
BB S A
Notes: PRE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. [LIFRTRMD RITFE -
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”), 2. LR B — R EJE R BB AL BY A BRax-Comm (BVI)

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,

Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests in the
shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were required to be notified to the company and the Exchange.

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any
such rights.
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Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2024, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

ERBEA NRRARBENESR AR

RIZ-HF=A=+—H  REEHEDIZE336ETA
THRENELMAE R EFAAR B EELITHRAEN
o THAL(RRBEERITHARERINNAR B
0 RARRAR D P A S MORA ¢

Number of Percentage of
Name of shareholder ordinary shares held total issued shares
FFEER EEBITRAD
BRER M E RHEE WEDE
Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (Fff3E)
Mr. George Roger Manho 48,142,254 5.20%

EERE L E
Note:

These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant directors in the
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2024.

Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

54  ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 3k

BRE

ZERMERIERRITREENED - HEERO REFFHEEOER
EgE | —HiRBEAERESRNEEES -

B EXFTEIN KB -MF=RA=+—H  REEE
HIRGI336ME T AT HRIFNERMAELEARAREES
TTHRABEFF  ARABLEEBEMAL(ARAEER
TTERARERRON) AR R R AR R A0 o B M 25 SOk

A

=

BB

RRABEEBRE BIFHEHN A B IRRM 24 -



Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased nil shares (2023: nil shares) in
the share capital of the company on the Exchange pursuant to the general
mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general meetings of
the company held on 8 August 2022 and 31 July 2023.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangement
or contracts

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted during
or at the end of the year in which the director or an entity connected with
the director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into
or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 139 of this annual report.
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Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Auditor

On 30 April 2024, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited resigned as the auditor
of the Company and CWK CPA Limited was appointed by the Directors
to fill the casual vacancy so arising on the same date. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been audited
by CWK CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the company to re-appoint CWK CPA Limited as
auditor of the company.

By order of the board
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 14 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR E

CWK"
DB

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “group”) set out on pages 63 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on the matter.
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Key audit matter
BRERSBR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNAEERRENSEE

Revenue recognition on service contracts fRIEE W KIS FER

Refer to notes 3, 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements :E2 47 & M HRMEE3 - 4%30

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, radio frequency
identification (“RFID") and IT services contracts are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at
the end of the reporting period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate
the total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing
each of the contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group.
It is significant to the consolidated financial statements and
requires judgements in applying the input method for recognising
revenue from related service contracts.

BEERAM - 51U R B AR s R AN AR IR HR 5 HAR &Y
FTLADLLATHER -
EREFEMHEAEEETEESNARENERANFHTT
AN °

AR EESRS B RANEEZU AR ZAEN T I AN
EARERAR R RE A O - BEDASEEES —(AmsgnER
REEIR -

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

- Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
process that the management performed in relation to
the estimation of total costs and the determination of the
status of completion of the service contracts;

- Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets and the
determination of stage of completion as at the end of the
reporting period,;

- Checking and testing, on a sample basis, the contract
sum and budgeted costs to the signed service contracts
and approved budgets, and on a sampling basis, checking
to actual costs incurred, progress billings to date and
provisions for any foreseeable losses as at the end of the
reporting period; and

- Evaluating and assessing management’s estimates in their
determination of, among other matters, the percentage
of completion of the service contracts, actual costs
incurred to date, estimated costs to completion and
provisions for onerous contracts.

BENETIEFERETRNAT
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Information other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors of the company (the “directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwan Kai Chun.

CWK CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Kwan Kai Chun

Practising Certificate number PO6957
Hong Kong

14 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEskEMEEKRER

BEZ-_ME=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2024 —E=[MF 2023 —T =%
B E HK$E T HK$E 7T

Revenue g 4 12,726,778 15,938,745
Cost of services rendered EREREHIK AR (4,501,021) (6,283,949)
Cost of sales 2EEMAAR (82,988) (91,356)
Gross profit EF 8,142,769 9,563,440
Other revenue and other gains, net H e R Epb iz FE 5 1,618,240 3,698,577
Administrative expenses THEA (7,618,180) (8,311,038)
Finance costs BT RAR 6(a) (55,103) (33,002)
Profit before taxation BREL AR R 6 2,087,726 4,917,977
Income tax FiS#i 7 (87,274) (96,993)
Profit for the year attributable FRARDBHEE ABGEET]

to owners of the company 2,000,452 4,820,984
Other comprehensive income Hit2mWk A
Item that may be reclassified to HiZnJpEE B2 R B H

profit or loss, net of nil tax: (FEHIEFE) -
Exchange differences on translation of TINETE A E ZFE

foreign operations 13,872 2,766
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA

for the year 13,872 2,766
Total comprehensive income for FRAEAATHEE AEMSL

the year attributable to owners of ZHEIKAELE

the company 2,014,324 4,823,750
Earnings per share sRER 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR RESE GBI 0.22 0.52
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As at 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MRZZE-MFE=A=+—HUAETIIE)

Note 2024 —ZE=NF 20203 == ==F
Bt s HK$E T HK$E 7T
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 13 768,989 1,547,892
Interest in an associate it/ e 14 - -
768,989 1,547,892
Current assets REEE
Inventories ey 15 - 53,077
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A EW A 16 3,670,748 4,395,301
Income tax recoverable AT BIFR1S TR 17,120 457,308
Cash and cash equivalents R RRSEED 17 18,570,300 21,187,836
22,258,168 26,093,522
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMPERFRIE 18 2,563,241 3,816,670
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 725,404 690,097
Provisions B 20 532,073 589,588
3,820,718 5,096,355
Net current assets REBEESE 18,437,450 20,997,167
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBEE 19,206,439 22,545,059
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 19 - 725,404
Net assets EEFRE 19,206,439 21,819,655
Capital and reserves BARREE 25
Share capital (&N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves e 9,951,359 12,564,575
Total equity BrER 19,206,439 21,819,655

These consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 67 were approved ~ FRE63E67 BN AL G BHRRLEESTEN T Y
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 June 2024 and S NATHA#ERFEWLATEEREREEZ TLAT

are signed on its behalf by: %

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung ZIEX R 7
Director Director BF BF
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GERERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Share Share Merger Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
e RiEE AR MRENRE ZitER by 3
HK$7E T HKS7E T HKS7ETE HKSFET HKS7E T HKS7E T
Note (note 25@)  (note 25()()  (note 25(b)i)  (note 25()ii))
M (Was@)  (Razasbid)  (Rrszasiod) — (Riszsioli)
At 1 April 2022 ZECCERA-H 9,255,080 15,612,205 10,748,910 (16,669)  (13,050,573) 22,548,953
Changes in equity for the year: FRNEESE
Profit for the year ERET| - - - - 4,820,984 4,820,984
Other comprehensive income for the year EREMEERA - - - 2,766 - 2,766
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZENAGE - - - 2,766 4820984 4823750
Dividend in respect of previous year EEREHERTH
approved and paid 10(b) - (5,553,048) - - - (5,553,048)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-B-ZEZA=1-BR
ZECZEMA-A 9,255,080 10,059,157 10,748,910 (13,903) (8,229,589) 21,819,655
Changes in equity for the year: FRNEESE
Profit for the year ERET| - - - - 2,000,452 2,000,452
Other comprehensive income for the year EREMEERA - - - 13872 - 13,872
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZENAGE - - - 13,872 2,000,452 2,014,304
Dividend in respect of previous year FEREHERTA
approved and paid 10(b) - (4,627 540) - - - (4,627 540)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=+-A 9,255,080 5431617 10,748,910 (31) (6,229,137) 19,206,439
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE=ZZ == A=+—HIEFE (B TIIE)

Note 2024 —ZE - [4F 2023 — ==

Bt s HK$E T HK$E 7T

Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation BREERT = A 2,087,726 4,917,977
Adjustments for: BTN SEIEL R
— Gain on disposal of financial assets —HEEBRIERE AT ERERN

at fair value through profit or loss SREEMKE 5 - (166)
— Interest income —F B A 5 (562,665) (244,388)
— Finance costs — B R AR 6(a) 55,103 33,002
— Depreciation —iTE 6(c) 743,527 1,174,838
— Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ —HEWE - BE MiRER Kk

equipment 5 (79,226) (154,866)
— Write-off of inventories —TFEME 6(c) 42,535 549,589
Operating profit before changes in REEESBHATNEEER

working capital 2,287,000 6,275,986
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERAEm) 10,542 (10,502)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 N E A R GRIE R 724,553 5,187
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R H M FER FRIER (1,253,429) (185,277)
Decrease in provisions B R (57.515) (842,827)
Cash generated from operations EBELRS 1,711,151 5,242,567
Tax refund MFGRE 575,696 -
Tax paid R (222,782) (469,660)
Net cash generated from operating REERELRSFE

activities 2,064,065 4,772,907
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Note 2024 —ZE [N 2023 — - =4

B E HK$E T HK$E 7T

Investing activities REZH
Payment for purchase of property, plant TNEEYE  BELEE

and equipment (7,398) (12,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ H& B BIBEIE A FERIED

at fair value through profit or loss SREEKA - 52,526
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant — HE¥E  BE REERA

and equipment 122,000 613,700
Interest received BEUFE 562,665 244,388
Net cash generated from investing RETHELERSTFE

activities 677,267 898,614
Financing activities mEEE
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE 22 (690,097) (1,470,221)
Interest on lease liabilities paid ENHEEaENE 22 (55,103) (33,002)
Dividend paid BERRE (4,627,540) (5,553,048)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BRI RITIFFOR D - 11,565,893
Net cash (used in) generated from REITB(FAELERSEE

financing activities (5,372,740) 4,509,622
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash BHE&RBESEEYFEGED)

equivalents i (2,631,408) 10,181,143
Cash and cash equivalents at the FEANRERREEEY

beginning of the year 21,187,836 11,003,927
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNEE[E R F B )P 13,872 2,766
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRHNRERREEEY

end of the year 17 18,570,300 21,187,836
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General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
address of the principal place of business of the company and its
operating subsidiaries is Unit D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478
Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company’s shares are
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Exchange”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

The company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Rax-
Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate beneficial owner of Rax-
Comm is Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Application of new and amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the group’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to HKFRS
17)

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact
on the group'’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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Application of new and amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition
of Accounting Estimates

The group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current period. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the
distinction between changes in accounting estimates, and changes
in accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current period had no
material impact on the financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Application of new and amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
"Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the group’s financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3
to the financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

2  Application of new and amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The company has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Application of new and amendments to 2
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments
have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.
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Application of new and amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if
an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those
liabilities is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier
period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should
also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F 3R

RENBRRANEREEREARS
ATRERER

(a) HFEVBBRRNEREE

REMBRERDRESSTIASRGHEEN
BHRELERE - RFEBGEVBEREME -+ i
SEBEHEBANEYETZRPIELAAE -
AFZERRABERX « ILIN - SREVBREEE
B X FTGEMAE % E MR A ([ E /R A1) FTARE R
EREKE  WEBBEEBLIGOIZRRER

BRI X P e st BOR PR %%iﬁ%,ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
RHEHENETERTAIN  GEPH
B LRAERS

FEERA—BIBBEEYERBERIBAEREND
HEMmMETE -

REEDTHELEERAERREEFR ST H
EEEMBMABRAEMOER - MTH
ZERAEXBERERARAEMAERIETT
st » R RBEEXRENAFER - fWh
B2EERNFTEANZEELABETEERS
ERZEBEERBENEL  UARBECDZEEZS
Bk - RAGEMBREMBENER LWER
MZAFEDRZEEETE  BEFEMBRE
HERNF 255 B0 RERA K EE RN HE
BHNRRZS - RIEEBPBHRELRE 1655
B DIRNHEERS LD BAFEREEL IR

FE(MBBEHEE 2R FE I e 23]

FHERT B G ERE36IR EERE I ARNE
B)RETEERIN ©

75



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= H

sre SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

76

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in Note 30.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the company and entities controlled by the company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the group gains control until
the date when the group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

RENBRRANEREEREARS
STRERER (&)

(b) EXRSFHERER

HERE

FEMBRREBEARARIARRE %IJE’JE‘E%
REMBABNMBE®RE 26 IEAR

. HEREHSEERES

. XE%&E&Q%T%%%E’JT”@#&L%%
RS ARERN

. BEERERENTELBOEES -

1%??&'\E5R%%DM:FEEIJ:E’F%EH—EE}Z
NELBRES  AEESERERTMEHIRER
BIEVIE B R R AT

AEBERESH B RIZEHERE BB QARG
AR YRREMBAREHNERR LGS
fr - ARME - FRMKBRHENB2RNYK
ARFXTYBAEERGESE 2 AR AL
FRELEMEEKEGER @ AEANEETBEF
ERMBLARZABARL -

MERARNMERENETERELIE - AR
HEt BREAREEARAO S BER 2 -

HEAEEXKEARRETORSERNAEEE
NARHEEREE - #x - WA - AXEBAE
MEBERERA IR B ERBEH -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 3% 77



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

78

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the group’s performance as the group
performs;

o the group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the group performs; or

o the group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the group and the group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract liability represents the group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations,
the group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases

The group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)

The group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Leasehold improvements Qver the shorter of the lease
terms and 4 years

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years

— Computer and other equipment 4 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

— Right-of-use assets Over the lease terms

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECLs") in accordance with the
policy set out and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F 3R

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

REMBRRNEREEREAS
STRER ()

BREEREHNEEER)

REEFNE—QOME  FANEENFAL
BEGUEN - NE0ME - THEEHON
BREERANABENMNOFEELZD -

ReRhBESEEY

ReMReFEMRBRTERERE  RITR
Hip e MlBEERFFIARERRASRBE
BE - WEREBAUBERRESCANNREHE
MEEZSHTENERTA  LEBAR=EA
MEIH o

BESREMENRIE
BPREMBENREDSRATERBAR - &

5 REMEN R EHER AR - AR
BEATE EERBEATUNERSHBIIR -

B IREEREBESN

() RERAAEE

MRAEEBREBRENEHARERNETR
% - GBS IE R RN K A2 AT LAY AT SE v iy
S EHREE - MREREBREEA - ARET
BRI AR ERH R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts (continued)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(ii) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling the contract.
The cost of fulfilling the contract includes both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
rights-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
rights-of-use assets and intangible assets
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets
of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 on financial assets (including trade receivable, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivable
and contract assets without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the group).

Irrespective of the above, the group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped based on:

- Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the group’s trade
receivables together with contract assets and deposits and
other receivables are each assessed as a separate group);

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

The group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets where

the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised

(i.e., removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) the group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The group’s financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised costs. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the group initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the

fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

104

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 24, the
fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share option
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the group’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Related parties

(€)] A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the group;
(ii) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

3  Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of the group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that

person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements and material
accounting policy information (continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Revenue

Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount of
each significant category of revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows:

REMBRRANEREEREARS
ATRERER(R)

7P E

LENBARGEPVBHRRAMBENEED H
HEEHE BUREHRAAEESSENITRER
ERDEERTASEESEBHER NR N
HRBMBHOMEER R -

BOIHBRES  BATEBEANBHTEA
BEETS - IR IE S B IEML - DA RE QR
RAIE - EERFEE  BEEARER - 5
B R SR RIS AR 07 R R B BRI
1AL - RIERISS - ERERIT & TEANLES
B MBEMEHA BRAIGRE - BT
B o

D>d

Wy g8

Wants & HE M T &P R MR ARTS &F
Wit o RIBFBMBREEREISHBEANETE
DREPREKELT -

2024 —ZE—MF 2023 ZF==%F
HKS$#E T HK$Z 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RFID and 28R E 4 - §T4AHBI R E
IT services BHE R
— Service revenue — BRA% Wz 3,291,176 4,585,586
— Income from maintenance services —IREREUA 9,114,762 10,939,711
— Sales of service related products —HE RIS E @ 320,840 413,448
12,726,778 15,938,745
2024 —E-MF 2023 =T =%
HKS$# T HK$E 7T
Disaggregated by timing of W R 1
revenue recognition
— Over time — BERFE 12,405,938 15,525,297
— A point in time —E R 320,840 413,448
12,726,778 15,938,745
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5

108

Other revenue and other gains, net

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

H s & bl 8

2024 —F-MF 2023 ZZ =%
HKS$#E T HK$# 7T
Other revenue Hitl s
Government grants (Note) TR BN (P 5E) 893,593 2,711.21
Management service income BERBUA - 160,000
Compensation income BEKA - 330,111
Interest income FMEWA 562,665 244,388
Sundry income EH U 82,756 97,835
1,539,014 3,543,545
Other gains, net HihFE W
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair ~ HEFBEREEATFERENE
value through profit or loss & ER e - 166
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - B RE B
equipment 79,226 154,866
79,226 155,032
1,618,240 3,698,577
Note: s -

Government grants refer to the funding support offered by The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR Government”) on the
areas of recruitment and retention of staff and project development supporting.
There was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to these grants.

The group received funding of HK$813,593 (2023: HK$1,991,211) on project
development supporting. In addition, the group successfully applied for funding
of HK$80,000 from the Research and Development Cash Rebate Scheme under
Innovation and Technology Commission, set up by the HKSAR Government
during the year ended 31 March 2024. HK$720,000 from the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR
Government has been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023. Under
the terms of the grant, the group was required not to make redundancies during
the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the approved
list of employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 Profit before taxation

B PR RRMN T

BEZ-_ME=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

e

6 BRBIADNER

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: FRAZ AT A 2R
2024 —T-MF 2023 ZF =4
HK$# 7T HK$E7T
(@) Finance costs: (a) BIFERAN -
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEABENTKER 55,103 33,002
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EBINA(REESHE) -
remuneration)*:
Salaries, wages and other benefits %?/i\ s TERHEMBER 7,528,958 8,773,575
Retirement scheme contributions RPN EI LR (PRE23)
(note 23) 237,303 322,591
7,766,261 9,096,166
() Other items: (0 EHmEAR :
Auditor’s remuneration = EREMEN & 253,000 436,000
Cost of inventories* (note 15) FERA(M:E15) 630,113 1,198,926
Depreciation e
- owned property, plant and equipment —BBWE  BEIEE 73,630 233,925
— right-of-use assets —FREAE 669,897 940,913
Development costs* B Ak A 965,032 838,029
Exchange loss, net & H 518 %E 101,997 260,500
Expense relating to short-term leases RHEEREEEEEMER
and leases of low-value assets - 32,834 45,780
Write-off of inventories* (note 15) FEMBE(H:E15) 42,535 549,589
# Development costs included staff costs of HK$942,363 (2023: # AN 15942,363 8 L (=T = =4 : 785,020

#H

HK$785,020), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories included write-off of inventories of HK$42,535 i
(2023: HK$549,589), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(c).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE=ZZ == A=+—HIEFE (B TIIE)

7  Income tax 7 Fis®
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (a) REABEFDHMEEmBSRPITE
other comprehensive income represents: 5

2024 —Z=[F 2023 — - =4

HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax EHHE-FBNEH
Provision for the year FNEE 87,274 79,837
Under-provision in respect of prior years, — {FEEETECHE)
net - 17,156
87,274 96,993
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on ERFEHERBEFTFRERTEFA16.5%
the estimated assessable profits during the year, except for one (ZZZ=F 116.5% )58 ' RASEEF—HER
of the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong within the group BEBK OB AR R _REIFEHEEREE
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax o B AR E Z A BT R FIF X
rate regime. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of estimated 738.25% R TN ERR T s R E B R16.5% ©
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable N5 B B fth N B AR A ] FEER B v R SGB B AS
profits are taxed at 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits BEESRAEHGLFERTET - BUEEE
Tax has been made for other companies within the group as they FriGHi@(—T_=F : &) -

incurred losses for tax purpose or had sufficient tax losses brought
forward to set off estimated assessable profits (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e BRI

BEZ-_ME=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

Income tax (continued) 7 FiBB(E)
(b)  Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit (b) ZEBREEHEREERHENADN
at applicable tax rate: e
2024 —E-F 2023 =T ==%F
HK$# 7T HK$E7T
Profit before taxation R A v ) 2,087,726 4,917,977
Notional tax on profit before taxation, B AR AR R16.5% (= ==
calculated at the applicable tax rate of F 1 16.5% ) EAH R ERE
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) | 344,475 811,466
Tax effect of different tax rates on M A B & A R RA
subsidiaries operating in other W
jurisdictions (9,740) 3,250
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N HIR B AR E T2 25,922 146,679
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBUWA NS 2 (105,912) (184,703)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised B R F AR BRORGE L (299,261) (636,978)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RERNE R ZENT G2
recognised 193,472 14,396
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIER L AEAHIERIEN
recognised Mg & 25,592 5,564
Under-provision in respect of prior years, — FFEE B FE
net - 17,156
Income tax concession Frisiidmae (87,274) (79,837)
Income tax ERET 87,274 96,993
() Deferred tax assets () EEBBEE

At 31 March 2024, the group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately
HK$18,188,000 (2023: HK$20,002,000) due to the uncertainty

R-ZE-WF=ZA=+—H BHRBEBHER
FoafEEMERTEMNar 5

ABAREBEMABRRINELERAEEDNS

= ONEE

of the related tax benefits being realised through future taxable
profits. The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

18,188,000/ 7L( —Z = =4 :20,002,000%7T)
RE)VBRIBEIE A KA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE=ZZ == A=+—HIEFE (B TIIE)

8  Directors’ remuneration 8 EEWS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIEGEM_E TR B SR BB A BHE DI 5 383 1K FE MY
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as EEMEFBELT
follows:
2024 —EC-EF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees in kind bonuses  contributions benefits Total
4 2HR B
Ik U Bia i BEEA it
HKS 7T HKSE7C HK$ %7 HKSE 7T HKS 7T HKSE 7T
Evecutive directors ##Es
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Bgsik
(Chief Executive Officer) (118#%) 71,033 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 1,695,247
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BEgEE 71,033 - - - - 71,033
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah st 71,033 - - - - 71,033
213,099 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 1,837,313

Independent non-executive directors B/ TES

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BEHRE 71,033 - - - - 71,033
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BERLE 71,033 - - - - 71,033
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing fARELE 71,033 - - - - 71,033

213,099 - - - - 213,099
Total At 426,198 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 2,050,412
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEME&(E)
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIEGEM TR Bl S BB R BHE D 5383 (6 TR 1Y
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as BEEMESFELT : (&)

follows: (continued)

2023 TEo=F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees inkind bonuses contributions benefits Total
e 2R BiRitE
EZhie il BiEra 3 EBEN A
HKS 57T HKS BT HKSETT HKS T HK$ATT HKS 57T
Evecutive directors HiES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent ey i
(Chief Executive Officer) () 69,300 1,570,884 - 18,000 - 1,658,184
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung SRk 69,300 347103 - 13,435 - 429,858
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah Ygks 69,300 - - - - 69,300
207,900 1,918,007 - 31435 - 2,157,342

Independent non-executive directors B FEE{TES

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BZERE 69,300 - - - - 69,300
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew ELRRE
(retired on 1 January 2023) (A=2-ZF-F-B%R) 51,975 - - - - 51,975
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung EREE 69,300 - - - - 69,300
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing BRELE
(appointed on 1 March 2023) (W=F-_=F=F-HZf) 5775 - - - - 5775
196,350 - - - - 196,350
Total A 404,250 1,918,007 - 31,435 - 2,353,692
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments (E T _NMER-_T_=F=A=+—HIF
were paid by the group to the directors as an inducement to join B AEEMEMNEEINMESEANALREE
or upon joining the group or as compensation for loss of office. In FINAR KB & B R KB E - Lo - B E
addition, none of the directors waived any emoluments during the RN FERZFE=F =A==+ —HILFE -
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. WiRE SRR KR BEREEMBE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2023:
two) individual is director whose emoluments are disclosed in note
8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four
(2023: three) individuals are as follows:

REHAL

RAfIsSFHFALH » —((ZF =% : ML)
REF  RENPS &SNS - sz (=
To=F Z)RSFALHOMSARELT

2024 — -9 2023 —E-=4F

HKS$#E T HK$E 7T

Salaries and other emoluments #Fre REAMMB e 1,873,936 1,668,528
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT 183,959 206,500
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 52,702 54,000
2,110,597 1,929,028

The emoluments of the four (2023: three) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following band:

M (ZF=—=F : ) ZSHFALTHHMENF
e

2024 —E=NFE 2003 =F==F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

ATEE ALTEE

HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z 71— 1,000,000/ 7T 4 3

10 Dividends 10

(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the group
attributable to the year

IR

(@) FARENTAEERERRAOKSE

2024 —E-E 2023 =T =%
HK$#E 7T HK$E7T
Proposed final dividend after the end of the TR%&EARIEZ
reporting period — HK$0.2 cents (2023: REAAR B — B IR EEAR0. 2781
HK$0.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZZE==%F : 0.5581l) 1,851,016 4,627,540

The proposed final dividend for the year is recommended by the
directors after the end of the reporting period which is to be paid
out of the share premium account of the group. Such dividend
is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the upcoming
Annual General Meeting. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

10 Dividends (continued) 10 KE(E)
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the group (b) WA BUFE BN TASEERR R AR
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and BERFRHLEN R

1"

paid during the year

2024 —ZZ[NF 2023 — B =4

HK$38 7T HK$B 7T
Final dividend in respect of the previous FFFREBROSEIW( ===
year, approved and paid during the year £ @ 0.678\) Ay AREARE B B A&
— HK$0.5 cents (2023: HK$0.6 cents) per  PU#tb/fEIA Ko 2 A~
ordinary share 4,627,540 5,553,048
Earnings per share 11 BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BREABFDZRAESEHEE AEG & F
attributable to owners of the group of HK$2,000,452 (2023: 2,000,452 ( ZFE = =4 : 4,820,984/87T) &
HK$4,820,984) and the weighted average of 925,508,000 (2023: N AT AR 69 D0 15 1% 2925,508,000%
925,508,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as (ZZF—=% :925,508,000/%) ' 5t&uF :
follows:

2024 —E-UE 2023 — - =4

Issued ordinary shares and weighted BT LB R SRR INE T S8
average number of ordinary shares 925,508,000 925,508,000
As the group does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares HEZTZMFER T -_=F=A=+—HLF
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, basic and EASENWEELAEELRK  MEAREE
diluted earnings per share are the same. BHAER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE=ZZ == A=+—HIEFE (B TIIE)

12 Segment reporting 12 DEE|E
(a) Operating segment information (a) #EEHBESR
The group conducts its business within one business segment, AEEMNKERAE—EEEDE - HEERR
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the #t - GTORR R B AR R A KA RS - PR
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject BAREENERIRBHEGRLULE - Bk Kk
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating B3 - Bt - AEENKEITHIFE—LED
activities are attributable to a single operating segment. =i
(b) Geographical information (b) HIHER
The group's operations were principally located in Hong Kong, REBFEEFBLEED  FR A ER
hence, geographical segment information is not considered WARE o
necessary.
() Information about major customers (0 EBRXEEFEHR
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% IEREENARGERI0%NEZZ,NT ¢

or more of total revenue of the group, is set out below:

2024 —ZE=[UF 2023 — B =4

HK$# 7T HK$E 7T

Customer A B 1,541,274 N/A* TiE A *

Customer B BRZ 7,426,212 8,620,909
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the * TER R R R B A R E R 10% ©

group'’s revenue.

116 ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 S 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 Y% - BMERRKRE
Properties Computer
|eased for Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
ownuse  improvements and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HEkBRANNE  HENEER BRREE ERRHELRE AE At
HKS 57T HKS 7T HKSETT HKS BT HK$ BT HKS 57
Cost: HA:
At 1 April 2022 kS 1) 2,691,095 493,556 198951 595,808 2,351,004 6,330414
Additions e 1,415,501 - - 12,000 - 1,427,501
Disposals iHE (2,691,099) - (28721) (112,790) (1,759,993) (4,592,5%9)
At 31 March 2023 and REZZFZA=+-AR
1 April 2023 ZZZ-FRA-A 1,415,501 493,556 170,230 495,018 591,011 3,165,316
Additions e - - - 739 - 7398
Disposals & - - - (54,431) (591,011) (268,300)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-MEZA=1-A 1,415,501 493,556 170,230 447,985 - 2904414
Accumulated depreciation: ZiE !
At 1 April 2022 S 112 1,794,063 493556 193,731 534,436 1,560,565 4,576,351
Charge for the year ERiE 897,032 - 3,561 30,686 243,559 1,174,838
Fliminated on disposals {H R (2,691,095) - (28721) (106,394) (1,307,555 (4,133,765)
At 31 March 2023 and RZBZ=F=fA=1-Ak
1 April 2023 “T-ZERA-A - 493,556 168,571 458728 496,569 1,617 424
Charge for the year ERRE 669,897 - 1,128 20834 51,668 743,528
Fliminated on disposals {H R - - - (54,431) (548,237) (225,526)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1-H 669,897 493,556 169,698 425131 - 2,135,425
Net carrying amount: BFEE:
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=1-H 745,604 - 53 2853 - 768,989
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=5=A=1-H 1,415,501 - 1,659 36,290 94,442 1,547,892
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

13 W% - BEKKRE(E)

Note: MEE
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEAE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class ZEMEERREDNERREERTENT -
of underlying asset is as follows:
2024 —E=MF 2023 —T =4
HK$E T HKS$#& 7T
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated FAEEE FARIZE - AFTER AR
cost (note (b)) 511 (M EE (b)) 1,415,501 1,415,501
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost (note (c))  JTE » AT ER TR (HI7ECQ) - -
1,415,501 1,415,501
The analysis of the depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of EARAERAERGFHRITENANIAT
underlying asset is as follows:
2024 —E = 2023 =T =4
HK$E T HK$ETT
Properties leased for own use HEEE A 669,897 897,032
Motor vehicles e - 43,881
669,897 940,913
Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities and total cash outflow for HESEANISESMEEEE S TEENEME
leases are set out in notes 19 and 22. BHAW 1982225 o
(b) Properties leased for own use (b) HEFEANYE
The group has obtained the right to use properties through tenancy AREEDFEBESHHESERAYEEN - S
agreements. The leases typically run for a period of 2 years with an RB—BARE  TEESRANBEREETET
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the (B MBELHRPRIE - ZEROHTRIETAKAR
leases includes variable lease payments. %o
During the year ended 31 March 2024, additions to right-of-use assets BE_Z-_WE=ZA=+—HFERN - FELINFEHE
were HK$Nil (2023: HK$1,415,501) which related to the capitalised BEASHEIT(ZE =1 :1,41550157T) ' k&
lease payments payable for properties under new lease agreements. SHARENMERSSONENENEAESH -
(c) Motor vehicles for own use (© Ef:NED

The group leases motor vehicles under leases expiring from 2 to
5 years. At the end of the lease term the group has the option to
purchase the leased motor vehicles at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, all leased motor vehicles were
early redeemed by the group upon the fully repayment of relevant lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

14 Interest in an associate 14 HENTER
2023 —FE =%
HK$# 7T
Unlisted investment, at cost I ETIRE (RKA) 2,639
Accumulated share of losses FEh BETEE (2,639)
Particulars of the group’s associate at are as follows: REEMBEARERAT
Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and operations to the group  Principal activities
REBFTE
£ AL MR E i B Emaok FEBER
Indirect
i
2023
—TE=F
Precision Instrument and Hong Kong 23.99%  Provision of custom-developed high-end
Optics Limited laser scanning microscopes
AR BR AT B e R ERPIEG BN
The associate is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market is B NRAEMISHRENIF LMEEERE  &KA
not available and is accounted for using the equity method in the R ERTE M RRAR ©

consolidated financial statements.

As at 8 March 2024, the associate has been deregistered. RZZE-WF=A//\B ' B&ERARIEEH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14

15

120

Interest in an associate (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted

associate as at 31 March 2023 is as follows:

14

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

B N RS (R

S

N
P
&

SFoSE=A=+—8  AREMKEETH
RAMTEHEWT -

Precision Instrument and Optics Limited AR ERAT
2023 =T ==%
HK$# 7T
Current assets MEVEE 46,837
Current liabilities nBEE (13,700)
Net assets BESE 33,137
Revenue e 344,000
Profit and total comprehensive income i M R H A 2 E A B 118,704
Shared by the group: REEE(
Profit and total comprehensive income i A 2 E A A LA AR EE -
Net assets BEFE -
Inventories 15 FE
2024 —ZE-F 2023 =T =%
HK$# T HK$&7T
Finished goods I i - 53,077
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense FESEERAIHNFESNIT :
is as follows:
2024 —E-WE 2023 —F =%
HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Cost of inventories 630,113 1,198,926
Write-off of inventories 42,535 549,589
672,648 1,748,515
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

Trade and other receivables 16 EBZRHMEWIE
2024 —ZE=F 2023 =T =%
HK$# T HK$E7T
Trade receivables from contracts with EHRERE P& KR
customers 639,992 1,635,771
Contract assets (note 21(a)) EHEE(FE21@)) 1,401,399 1,042,381
Deposits and prepayments e RkENER 1,629,357 1,717,149
3,670,748 4,395,301
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits B /20939,1348 (=T =4 :1,397,298%T)
of HK$939,134 (2023: HK$1,397,298) are expected to be EBTEI®  REEKEE S R EMEKFIE
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. TEER —F AR EI S ERAER -
An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the BEBEREZ AR NRERE S ENRENR
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BOMAT -
2024 —E=-[F 2023 =T ==%F
HK$# T HK$E7T
Less than 1 month PHi—1E A 553,120 1,592,169
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #2i&—1& AEB R =18 A 86,872 43,602
639,992 1,635,771
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2023: 30 EORERFBREERAEIOREISR(ZE ==
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s F 1 30RE4A5K)NEH] o FHIBEH M FE26(a) A
credit policy are set out in note 26(a). EEMEEBCER

Cash and bank balances and time deposits 17 RERBITEHURTEHRER

2024 —E-N&F 2023 —E =4

HKS$#E T HK$BT

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHE R 2,745,473 4,270,114
Time deposits TE BATF R 15,824,827 16,917,722
18,570,300 21,187,836
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

17 Cash and bank balances and time deposits 17
(continued)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2024, time deposits are made
for terms of one to three months (2023: one to three months).

As at 31 March 2024, included in cash and cash equivalents is the
significant balance of HK$12,186,571 (2023: HK$15,307,596)
denominated in United States dollars which is a foreign currency,
other than functional currencies of entities within the group.

RERBITEHRURERER(E)

W E ERTE SRR AR B E B R WER A B 40 - SRITIF R
B AR T EIRIE T A RITIE BT KA R i &
B BER-_T-_NF=ZA=+—HLFE T
HEFREFH—E2=Z@A(ZZ==F: — 2=
R) -

RZZEZWNF=A=+—H0  2REcHEs kRS
EEMRNAETFHEN EEH82512,186,571%
(=T = =4 : 15,307,596 T) * EILANE
EERNEEEUINIEE -

18 Trade and other payables 18 ESRHMENFIE
2024 —E-MF 20203 = ==F
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
Trade payables B SEMNE 95,607 278,857
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A R Hoqth FE - 508 1,512,131 1,954,580
Amount due to directors B EERE 97,023 -
Contract liabilities (note 21(b)) AHBEEHE210b)) 858,480 1,583,233
2,563,241 3,816,670

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AEBENE S REMENFKERAR —FRAZN

RREHR - BRZEAHFEB S ENRENE
BT

2024 —ZE-[F 20203 — B =%

HK$#E T HK$E T

Less than 1 month LHR—EA 93,057 261,227
More than 1 month but less than 3 months @ —{EABALR={EA 1,800 17,630
More than 3 months but less than 1 year  HB#E={EAEIR—4F 750 -
95,607 278,857
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

19 Lease liabilities 19 HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRINTAEBR S HAREEEBNRT AL
the group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period: SIEAIER -

2024 —E-H&E 2023 —ZE =4

HK$#& T HK$# 7T
Within 1 year —FR 725,404 690,097
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMEA - 725,404
725,404 1,415,501
20 Provisions 20 #BiE
Defect
Employee liability
benefits period Total
EEREF REH &5t
HK$# 7T HK$ETT HK$E T
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Mi3E@)) (Hf3E(b))
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=ZFMNA—H 449,693 139,895 589,588
Additional provisions BEIMEIBET IR E
recognised, net - 134,789 134,789
Reversal of unutilised amounts RAR AR (6,528) (185,776) (192,304)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-NF=A=+—8H 443,165 88,908 532,073
Notes: B e -
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERNBEVEREFREBERRBRESH
compensation and long service leave claims made by employees. FHREE -
(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REBRBEEDEEEETEP SR REROMET
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard BRAE - ARRESRRESREOURZETK i)
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted RBEFTEEMBE -

for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 &3% 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE=ZZ == A=+—HIEFE (B TIIE)

21 Contract assets and contract liabilities 21 BHEEREGHNER
(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE

Note 2024 —ZE-[4F 2023 — ==

(3K HK$# 7T HK$# 7T
Contract assets which are included in  BER[ & 5 & H b EUFIE |
“Trade and other receivables” WHE R % P EIEIE
(note 16) (Mf5E16)
— Service contract works —REEHIE 1,346,849 1,042,381
— Retention money receivables —EURES (i) 54,550 -
1,401,399 1,042,381
As at 1 April 2022, the contract assets amounted to RZZ__FMA—H AHEER,748,801/8
HK$1,748,801. JT ©
Note: MEE
(i) Retention money receivables represents receivables for which the (i) EURB S IR EBN TRk MIREBEGE RIS
group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory (A3 Y B GZ FRIB HORE R o
completion of the retention period.
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets recognised HEHERANEESTEERTEN BRI HEEFMT
are as follows:
- Service contract works - RRi%& # 12
The group’s service contract works include payment schedules which AEEREAEHIEBIERES VBB ERYESD
require stage payments over the service contract period once stipulated BRENRAM R BR(—BEREE) - L&A
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-up BHIETEBRERANEE - IRE—RATRE - 1t
of significant contract assets. A deposit is typically payable up front and BEEEEVIHELEGNAE - AEENTREN%
this has resulted in a contract liability at early stages of the project. And Z10%METAHNANEBERE —FOREH -
the group also agrees to 1 year retention period for 5% to 10% of the 7N £ B 1S L S R R IB A MR AN 82 [ T2 725
contract value for certain project. This amount is included in contract BBRRAEAAES UL SEAARNEE B
assets until the end of the retention period as the group’s entitlement FREBHIER AL -

to this final payment is conditional on the group’s work satisfactorily

passing inspection.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%

e BRI

—EoNE= A=+ —HIEFEABTIIE)

Contract assets and contract liabilities 21 EHEERGHNEE(E)
(continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHEE
2024 —ZF=[MF 2023 —T =%
HK$#% 7T HK$/E7T
Contract liabilities which are included in BIERIE 5 R H M FERFRIE IR
“Trade and other payables” (note 18) B PIEWTIE(MFE18)
— Service contract works —IREEEH IR 359,989 521,292
— Deferred maintenance income —IRERERA 498,491 1,061,941
858,480 1,583,233
Note: Bt e
(i) Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract (i) HRERENBESHEENTEN — R R
liabilities recognised are as follows: T
- Service contract and maintenance works - R EH RIRELRR
When the group receives deposits before the service contract REEERBE O RRESH TATWERS
and maintenance work commences this will give rise to o WBRBESNVBEESNEE B
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue ERBEBRANBRBBEESBAIE -
recognised on the project exceeds the amount of the deposits. ISR EBEERIRSE SO RREN LB
It is a common practice on each of the group’s service and BH - AEBTAIERIZS -
maintenance contracts to require a deposit before work
commences.
(i) Movements in contract liabilities (i) AHAENES
2024 —Z-UF 20203 =T ==%
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
At the beginning of the reporting period R E B 1,583,233 1,406,564
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EiERF Al GEAFIEHERE)
recognising revenue during the year that was MEANEHNEERD
included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (1,583,233) (1,406,564)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billings in ~ F&#) TRRATFIAMELMNE LB EILM
advance of contract works 2,229,428 5,423,307
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HERFAREMELENFNELD
recognising revenue during the year that incurred BB
during the year (1,370,948) (3,840,074)
At the end of the reporting period REREER 858,480 1,583,233
(iii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts (iii) RiE BFERE T P& KT8 IR T 5k 5
with customers in existence at the reporting date R

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts for products or
services such that the above information does not include information
about revenue that the group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations under the contracts for products or
services that had an original expected duration of one year or less.

R-Z-_NER-_T-_=—FZA=+—H ' ~EH
EE BB RE ERIE 1555121 BT AT 1T
BZEAREERERBEEAL - Bt - FilEH
TREAEEERITEMRATET M A —FE
BHEMRREENEE TRBBORBRHEEE
BEABAER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

22 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 22 REITHFEENAEGHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from LTARFRAEENREETHEERENE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. g REReRIEREHEY - EFHELED
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which BERILAENESRECKARKHIRSR
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERERIERAEENGARERERTHR
group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from BEBHRSRE ¢

financing activities:

Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$E 7T
(note 19)
(P&E19)
At 1 April 2022 R-B-—FmA—A 1,470,221
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRNE
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSNFETE (33,002)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHERENERTE (1,470,221)
Total changes from financing cash flows BhVEI SR e AR (1,503,223)
Other changes: Hith# g
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 2z H (ffFE6(a)) 33,002
Increase in lease liabilities from entering RFHEEmE mmHEE & &E(FE13)
into new lease (note 13) 1,415,501
1,448,503
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 REB-=5=ZA=+-HBR=ZB==FfNA—H 1,415,501
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERSRNE -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSNFETE (55,103)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEEREeNERTE (690,097)
Total changes from financing cash flows BB R e AT (745,200)
Other changes: Hih g :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEZ H (fFE6(a)) 55,103
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_ME=/A=+—H 725,404
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme vest fully and immediately with the employees.
Accordingly, the group’s contributions under the above-mentioned
defined contribution retirement plan had no forfeited contributions
which may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$237,303 (2023: HK$322,591).

Share option scheme

The group operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
2011 Scheme include the group’s directors, including independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the group, suppliers
of goods or services to the group, customers of the group, advisers
and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme became effective on 8
August 2011 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date. The 2011 Scheme
was terminated on 7 August 2021 and no renewal or new scheme
operating by the group thereafter.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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25 Capital and reserves 25 EBEXKFEE
(a) Share capital (@ B’X
Authorised and issued share capital EEREBITIRA
2024 2023
=S 1 -3 “ZC=F
Number of Number of
shares HKS shares HK$
RHEE BT b E! BT
Authorised: EERA :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.OVETM LB 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued and fully paid: BETRBRRALER :
At 1 April and at 31 March RmA-BR=F=+-R 925,508,000 9,255080 925,508,000 9,255,080

128

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the group. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the group’s residual assets.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
group’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(i) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
group issued in exchange therefor.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies.

() Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, none of the reserves of the group
is available for distribution to owners of the group, except for the
reserve as stated in note 25(b)(i).

(d) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes lease liabilities and trade and
other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year, the group'’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2023, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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130

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. These risks are
limited by the group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
trade receivables and contract assets. The group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks of good credit-rating for which the group
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 87% (2023: 71%) and 95% (2023:
95%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are generally
due within 30 to 45 days from the date of billing. Negotiated on
a case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain customers
could be up to three months. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the group’s historic credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the
group'’s different customer bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Based on the historic data, current conditions and the group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables and contract assets, the directors of the group have
considered the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets
and note that there was no actual loss nor significant past due
experience over the past 5 years, including periods of unfavourable
economic conditions. The directors consider the aggregate risks
arising from the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables and
contract assets are not significant as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the group, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZE=Z=—F=A=+—RIFEABTIIE)

26 Financial risk management and fair values 26 <EEREERATFE(E)

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) ELREMERES(E)

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end RBEHRR - AEERBEENSRBENRTER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted WEMINTWT -

cash flows was as follows:

2024 —E-NE
Total Within
contractual 1 year
Carrying undiscounted oron
amount cash outflows demand
R—FR
BRRITR REER
IREE Be&RH HiE
HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$38 7T

Trade and other payables E 5 N HEMERFRIE

— Trade payables —[ERTE SRIE 95,607 95,607 95,607
— Accrued charges and other payables —JERTE A R H M E R IR 1,609,154 1,609,154 1,609,154
Lease liabilities HEBE 725,404 745,200 745,200
2,430,165 2,449,961 2,449,961

2023 —Eo=E
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than
amount cash outflows demand 2 years

R—%R SR—F
BHARRE HEEK BRER

EAE R Bz &g
HK$#ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$#ETT

Trade and other payables B RAMENTIE
~ Trade payables -ERBSIE 278,857 278,857 278,857 -
— Accrued charges and other payables - ENERREMENTE 1,954,580 1,954,580 1,954,580 -
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,415,501 1,490,400 745,200 745,200
3,648,938 3,723,837 2,978,637 745,200
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(d) Interest rate risk

The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its lease
liabilities, which are at fixed rate, expose the group to fair value
interest risk. The group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk.

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial
performance and equity for both current and prior year.

(d) Currency risk

Except for the bank balances and time deposits that are
denominated in United States dollar as disclosed in note 17, the
group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as most
of income and expenses giving rise to receivables, payables, bank
balances and time deposits that are denominated in the functional
currency of the entities within the group.

As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to United States dollar, the group
considers the risk of movements in exchange rate between Hong
Kong dollar and United States dollar to be insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

Financial risk management and fair values 26 <EEMREERAFE(E)
(continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) =SRMIAMNER
2024 —Z2-OF 2023 =T =%
HK$#E T HK$&7T
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BHENANEREE 20,634,802 24,335,815
Financial liabilities SRaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHEAANSREBE 2,430,165 3,648,938
(f)  Fair values f) 2¥E
All financial instruments are carried at amortised cost not materially FEEBITAENARKARENR _T_NER -
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. T =F=A=+—HHRATFEESEKTR -
Related party transactions and balances 27 BEALIRB R4

(@) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,
represents amounts paid to the group’s directors as disclosed in
note 8.

(b) Other related party transactions

The group entered into the following material related party
transactions during the year:

(a) EAREZEASHME
FEERREEASHOREINAARNESS
BRI FES IR -

(b) EHMEEALRS

FA - AEEFIVATHERFEALRS -

2024 —E-MUF 2023 —T==4
HK$# 7T HK$E 7T

Management service income from an /NS oS EN T N
associate - 160,000

(d) Details of outstanding balances dealt with related parties

are disclosed in note 18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

28 Subsidiaries’ information

28

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, particulars of the group’s principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

MEARER

AT RAEE]

R-B_MFER_FT_=F=H

=t+—HHNIEMBRRFE

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ Percentage of of issued and Principal activities and
Name of group establishment ownership interest paid up capital place of operation
Hm BRTR
NEIEE BRI 2 FrEEENE DL BRBRANFE TEERREED
Indirect
L3
2024 2023
—BomE —To=F
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 shares of  Provision of solutions and
Limited HK$1 each services for smartcity and
Smartcard in Hong Kong
BREGAR AR & 3,418,336/% EERRESRMMERER
(SBEET) REER T RARS
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research
HK$1 each of smartcard system and
service related products in
Hong Kong
RF Tech Limited 5 ik (EikEEIT)  ERBEEMARERRR
SUERIER
ITE Engineering Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Provision of solutions and
HK$1 each services for energy and
sustainability in Hong Kong
ITE Engineering Limited B 2R(EREEIT)  EEARHERMAESENT
R R MIRT

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial

performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the

net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

ERINTEERRIBYEAEEAFEMBER

BRR/AREFEETE

AR ED 1 B BT B X B

EERRUSEEMKTBA 7E’\J§¥'| SRR ES O]

BRI °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-_Z-_ME=RA=+—HILFECAETIIE)

29 Financial information of the company 29 ZAXATHNEBESR
(a) Statement of financial position (a) BBMRREK
2024 — -9 2023 —E-=4F
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RETBRARMIEE 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments e kBENER 179,838 178,951
Amount due from a subsidiary FEW I B A Bl kTE 1,777,735 398,400
Income tax recoverable ALK B Fr SR 50,518 469,660
Cash and cash equivalents Re MReEEY 2,051,325 3,903,836
4,059,416 4,950,847
Current liabilities REBERE
Amount due to a subsidiary FERTF B A BlkTE - 2,382,384
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A R Hoqth FE - 5018 363,977 417,884
363,977 2,800,268
Net current assets REEERE 3,695,439 2,150,579
Net assets BEFE 7,695,439 6,150,579
Capital and reserves BEXRN G
Share capital [N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 29(b)) &1 (BI5E29(b)) (1,559,641) (3,104,501)
Total equity RS 7,695,439 6,150,579
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF =¥ =A=+—HILFE(LABTIIE)

29 Financial information of the company 29 AERRWEBEER (&)
(continued)
(b)  Details of changes in the company’s individual components (b) FAERRRBENERIEERENT

of reserves during the year:

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
IR A7 1E RitEE &5t
HK$# 7T HK$HE T HK$#E 7T
At 1 April 2022 R-ZB-—FWAH—H 15,612,205 (18,536,978) (2,924,773)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRMNREARALRE
income for the year - 5,373,320 5,373,320
Dividend in respect of previous year {E4F % B4t/ N 2 1+
approved and paid (note 10(b)) (Mf7E10(b)) (5,553,048) - (5,553,048)
At 31 March 2023 and R-ZB-=F=A=+—-HK
1 April 2023 —E-_=FMA—H 10,059,157 (13,163,658) (3,104,501)
Profit and total comprehensive FRmANREERAERE
income for the year - 6,172,401 6,172,401
Dividend in respect of previous year {4 &St K 2+
approved and paid (note 10(b)) (FFFE10(b)) (4,627,540) - (4,627,540)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=H=+—H 5,431,617 (6,991,257) (1,559,640)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Accounting estimates and judgements

In the adoption of the group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the year of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Contract revenue from provision of consultancy services

Revenue recognition from provision of consultancy services is
dependent on the estimation of the progress of the satisfaction
of performance obligation of a service contract over time.
Based on the group’s past experience and the nature of the
contract activities undertaken by the group, there are significant
judgements exercised by the management of the group in
determining the budgeted costs of each contract and the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation and
the amount of revenue from the provision of consultancy services
recognised.
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Five Year Summary

AFHE

(CAETTEIE)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20
—ECZ% —T--x -z —Z°%FFx —ET-N%®
—mE —=F e ——fF —ZF
HKS# 7T HK$ETT HK$/B 7T HK$ AT HK$ % 7T
Results E
Revenue Yezs 12,726,778 15,938,745 32,655,984 49,749,878 44,345,206
Profit from operations Ryl 2,087,726 4,917,977 6,251,966 8,453,187 1,023,284
Profit before taxation BRATEF 2,087,726 4,917,977 6,251,966 8,453,187 1,023,284
Income tax expense FERE (87,274) (96,993) (89,780) - -
Profit for the year attributable to owners of AN EIHEA AF RE(L FAEF
the group 2,000,452 4,820,984 6,162,186 8,453,187 1,023,284
Assets and liabilities BENRERE
Non-current assets EnBEE 768,989 1,547,892 1,754,063 4,293,254 3,826,567
Net current assets TEAETE 18,437,450 20,997,167 20,916,132 18,624,044 10,731,001
Non-current liabilities FrReaE - (725,404) (121,242)  (1,886,322)  (1,610,313)
Net assets BEFE 19,206,439 21,819,655 22,548,953 21,030,976 12,947,255
Earnings per share BREF
Basic (HK cents) EA(E) 0.22 0.52 067 0.91 0.11
Diluted (HK cents) BEGEI) 0.22 0.52 0.67 0.91 0.1
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Corporate Information
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Executive Directors

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Chairman
Cheng Kwok Hung

Liu Hoi Wah

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
Wai Hing Cheung
Yeung Kin Hing

Company Secretary
Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona

Compliance Officer

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Authorised Representatives
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Cheng Kwok Hung

Audit Committee

Kam Hau Choi, Anthony Chairman
Wai Hing Cheung

Yeung Kin Hing

Auditor
CWK CPA Limited

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Unit 2110-2111, 21/F
Cosco Tower

183 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
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Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit D, 1/F

Por Yen Building

478 Castle Peak Road

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Hong Kong Registrars Limited

17M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

Website Address
www. hkite.com

Stock Code
8092
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